DUTHER COURT OF A DREAD CONTINUE CTATE OF TANGAC

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

SHELBY DEVELOPMENT, LLC, a		
Missouri limited liability company,	)	
Plaintiff/Appellant,	Appellate Court Case No. 22-125299-A	
V.	Appeal from the District Court of Shawnee County Case No. 2019-CV-000845	
SHAWNEE COUNTY, KANSAS, et al.,	The Honorable Thomas G. Luedke, Judge	
Defendants/Appellees.	)	

## **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

## **ENSZ & JESTER, P.C.**

Wesley J. Carrillo KS #23984 1100 Main Street, Suite 2121 Kansas City, Missouri 64105 Telephone: 816-474-8010

Facsimile: 816-471-7910

Emails: wcarrillo@enszjester.com

ATTORNEYS FOR

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

Oral Argument 20 minutes

## STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The case before this Court involves a breach of contract action as well as tort actions. This matter is being appealed from the Memorandum Decision and Order on Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, which was entered on April 8, 2022.

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Appellant will raise the following proposed issues: (1) that Shelby Development LLC's claims are not barred by the doctrine of failure to exhaust administrative remedies, because the wrongful acts committed by Shawnee County were not within the purview of the administrative remedy; (2) that Shelby Development LLC's claims are not barred by the doctrine of res judicata, because they do not arise out of the same facts, nucleus of operative facts, do not involve the same parties, and could not have been raised in the administrative action before the Kansas Board of Tax Appeals and did not constitute a final judgment on the merits; (3) that Shelby Development, LLC's claims are not barred by the doctrine of waiver; (4) that a genuine issue of material fact exists as to whether or not a breach of contract occurred; (5) that a genuine issue of material fact exists as to the breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing; (6) that a genuine issue of material fact exists as to the Counts of fraud in the inducement, fraud, and fraud in negligent misrepresentation asserted by the Appellant in the District Court; (7) that Appellant's claim of negligence per se is subject to a private right of action; (8) that the Kansas Constitution, specifically the Kansas Bill of Rights, creates a private right of action; (9) that Shelby Development LLC's claims under 42 USC § 1983 present a genuine issue of material fact that precluded the granting of Summary Judgment against Shelby Development LLC's claims under 42 USC § 1983; and (10) that there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Shelby Development, LLC suffered compensational damages under Kansas law.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

- 1. Plaintiff/Appellant Shelby Development, LLC's ("Appellant") pleadings clearly indicate that there are detailed and described damages suffered. Specifically, these are pleaded in the Petition. [Volume 1, page 26, paragraph 66; Volume 1, page 27, paragraph 74; Volume 1, page 29, paragraph 81; Volume 1, page 31, paragraph 88; Volume 1, page 33, paragraph 95; Volume 1, page 35, paragraph 100; Volume 1, page 37, paragraph 108; Volume 1, page 39, paragraph 118; Volume 1, page 43, paragraph 132; Volume 1, page 46, paragraph 147; Volume 1, page 47, paragraph 151.]
- 2. Stacy Berry ("Berry") has been employed by the Shawnee County Appraiser's Office since April 2015. She oversees the Commercial Department and values some commercial properties. [Volume 2, page 195, paragraph 3.] Value notices are supposed to be mailed by March 1<sup>st</sup> of each year, extensions of that deadline can be secured from the Director of the Division of Property Valuation. [Volume 2, page 195.]
- 3. On December 29, 2016, Steve Bauman ("Bauman") wrote Chris Williams ("Williams"), an employee of CBRE, Inc. ("CBRE"), and asked if he conducted appraisals of Heartland Park for the 2016 and 2017 tax years. [Volume 2, page 197, paragraph 12.]
- 4. On January 24, 2017, Williams declined to do an appraisal for the 2016 year, then quoted an appraisal for the 2017 tax year for Four Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$4,000.00), and further quoted "[a]ny litigation, negotiating, or court, tax appeal court time will be billed separately at \$400/hour for myself and \$250/hour for other appraisers in my office." [Volume 2, page 197, paragraph 14.]
- 5. On or about February 2, 2017, the County engaged Williams to appraise Heartland Park for the 2017 tax year. [Volume 2, page 198, paragraph 15.]

- 6. Bauman secured an extension of time until March 31, 2017, to send the valuation notices out in 2017. [Volume 2, page 198, paragraph 18—Volume 2, page 199.]
- 7. On March 2, 2017, CBRE emailed a draft appraisal by Williams to Bauman. [Volume 2, page 199.]
- 8. The March 2, 2017, appraisal report from Williams contained the value of Heartland Park at Seven Million Five Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$7,500,000.00). [Volume 2, page 199, paragraph 20.]
- 9. Between March 3 and March 13, 2017, a telephone conference between Williams, Berry, and CBRE was scheduled for review of the March 2, 2017, appraisal. [Volume 2, page 199.]
- 10. On March 14, 2021, Williams, Bauman, and Berry participated in a telephone conference, which last[ed] approximately five to ten minutes. [Volume 2, page 200, paragraph 24.]
- 11. Between the County's engagement of Williams and CBRE on February 2, 2017, and their completion of the final appraisal on March 29, 2017, Berry answered a request for data via email from Shannon McCollam. [Volume 2, page 201, paragraph 31.]
- 12. The final appraisal report by Williams dated March 29, 2017, valued Heartland Park at Ten Million Four Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$10,400,000.00). That appraisal was received by the County on March 29, 2017. [Volume 2, page 202, paragraph 32.]
- 13. Bauman then forwarded the appraisal to Berry for allocation among the parcels that make up Heartland Park. [Volume 2, page 201, paragraph 33.]
- 14. Berry then allocated the value of the Motorsports Park received from CBRE among the multiple parcels that comprise the Park. She did not herself appraise the Park in 2107. [Volume 2, page 202, paragraph 34.]

- 15. Property valuations were then sent out on or about March 31, 2017. [Volume 2, page 202, paragraph 35.]
- 16. The draft reports were disclosed through discovery. The existence of the draft reports was disclosed through discovery in KORA responses [Volume 2, page 202, paragraph 36; Volume 2, page 303, paragraphs 37-39.]
- 17. On March 9, 2018, the County designated Williams as an expert witness for the appeal of the 2017 valuation. [Volume 2, page 203, paragraph 40.]
- 18. And, in doing so, the County disclosed Williams as an expert for his March 29, 2017, appraisal in April of 2018, with its expert exhibits during the appeal of the 2017 valuation. [Volume 2, page 204, paragraph 41.]
- 19. Counsel for the County refused to produce the March 2, 2017, draft in the course of discovery. [Volume 2, page 204, paragraphs 40—Volume 2, page 205, paragraph 44.]
- 20. The County's position was that the preliminary draft Report was not subject to disclosure under KORA or discovery. [Volume 2, page 205, paragraph 46.]
- 21. The County objected to the production of its expert's draft appraisals. [Volume 2, page 206, paragraph 48.]
- Appellant requested all correspondence and information related to the appraisals and all prior drafts or valuation determinations by Williams in an April 4, 2017, KORA request. [Volume 2, page 207, paragraph 50.]
- 23. The County objected to the production of any draft appraisals, indicating that they were not subject to KORA disclosure or to discovery. [Volume 2, page 207, paragraph 51.]
- 24. On or about May 25, 2018, the parties resolved the 2017 Board of Tax Appeals ("BOTA") appeal, and any dispute of the 2018 valuation, and agreed to specify values of \$7.5M

for tax year 2017, and Eight Million Nine Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$8,900,000.00) for tax year 2018. [Volume 2, page 208, paragraph 55.]

- 25. Those were resolved by stipulation entered by the BOTA. [Volume 2, page 208, paragraph 56.]
- 26. On May 25, 2018, the parties reached a settlement agreement as to the 2018 and 2019 values. [Volume 2, page 209, paragraph 57; page 210.]
- 27. Williams cannot identify which appraisal he intended to reply on in 2017. [Volume 2, page 215, paragraph 81; Volume 2, page 263.]
- 28. Williams does not recall whether or not he had a conversation with Chris Payne ("Payne") wherein Williams called Payne and told him that the value conclusion in Williams' March 29, 2017, appraisal report was not his value. [Volume 2, page 263.]
- 29. Williams cannot recall whether or not there was an inquiry being made for adjustment of comparables in his multiple appraisal reports. [Volume 2, page 216; Volume 2, page 264.]
- 30. Williams' only identification of the differences between the two appraisals were the depreciation and/or external obsolescence rather than the building residual technique. [Volume 2, page 216, paragraphs 84-86; Volume 2, page 264-265.]
- 31. Williams could not recall why he used the building residual technique in his March 29, 2017, appraisal, nor could he recall conversations he had with either Ashley Biegert ("Biegert") or James Crowl ("Crowl"). [Volume 2, page 216, paragraphs 86-87; Volume 2, page 263; Volume 2, page 265; Volume 2, page 267.]

- 32. Williams cannot recall whether or not he told Payne that the value conclusion in the March 29[sic], 2017, appraisal was not his value. [Volume 2, page 216, paragraphs 84-86; Volume 2, page 263.]
- 33. Williams cannot honestly say whether or not he told Payne that the March 29[sic], 2017, appraisal was not his number. [Volume 2, page 216, paragraph 89; Volume 2, page 269.]
- 34. The March 2, 2017, appraisal was Williams' appraisal and it was signed and certified. [Volume 2, page 216; Volume 2, page 269.]
- 35. Likewise, the March 14, 2017, appraisal was signed and certified. [Volume 2, page 216; Volume 2, pages 269-270.]
- 36. Of all the conversations revolving around the 2017 appraisals, Williams does not have a good recollection of any of them. [Volume 2, page 216; Volume 2, page 217.]
- 37. He does not have a detailed recollection of any of the conversations. [Volume 2, page 217; Volume 2, page 270.]
- 38. In fact, Williams does not have a recollection as to whether or not the conversations with Payne regarding the appraisals even occurred. [Volume 2, page 217; Volume 2, page 270.]
- 39. Specifically, Williams was not saying that those conversations did not occur, but just that he does not remember them or any details related to them. [Volume 2, page 217; Volume 2, page 270.]
- 40. Williams also qualified any answer of "not to my knowledge." It typically means that he does not remember one way or the other. [Volume 2, page 217, paragraph 97; Volume 2, page 270.]
- 41. Williams does not recall discussions between him and the County. [Volume 2, page 218; Volume 2, page 271.]

- 42. Williams performed four (4) different appraisals on the property from 2015 through 2017. [Volume 2, page 218; Volume 2, pages 271-273.]
- 43. Williams testified that after creating, signing, and certifying three (3) prior appraisal reports not using the building residual technique, he does not know why he changed to utilize the building residual technique. [Volume 2, page 273; Volume 2, page 218, paragraphs 107 and 109.]
- 44. Between providing the March 2, 2017, value of \$7.5M and the March 14, 2017, value of Nine Million and 00/100 Dollars (\$9,000,000.00), Williams has no idea as to what happened between those two (2) dates which caused the change in valuation. [Volume 2, page 218; Volume 2, pages 273-274.]
- 45. Williams has no idea whether or not information was provided to him regarding deferred maintenance on the property. [Volume 2, page 218; Volume 2, page 274.]
- 46. Having such information is very important to the appraisal process. [Volume 2, page 219, paragraph 112; Volume 2, page 274.]
- 47. Williams admits that clients always have a significant impact on the outcome of values seen, because they are the ones supplying data to him, and they are the ones supplying information to get the job done. He relies on the data at that particular point in time, and has to rely upon that being as accurate and true at that point in time. [Volume 2, page 219, paragraph 113; Volume 2, page 274.]
- 48. If a client withholds or cherry picks information it can be problematic for the accuracy of its appraisal. [Volume 2, page 219; Volume 2, page 275.]
- 49. The County withheld information regarding deferred maintenance on the property. [Volume 2, page 221, paragraphs 132-133; Volume 2, pages 293-294.]

- 50. Williams has no idea what information he received between March 14, 2017, and March 29, 2017. [Volume 2, pages 219-220; Volume 2, page 275.]
- 51. If a client withholds information it can be problematic for the accuracy of the appraisal. [Volume 2, page 219; Volume 2, page 270.]
- 52. Williams believes that the March 2, 2017, appraisal report and the March 13, 2017, appraisal report were ripe based upon the information he was given at the time or whatever was in the values. [Volume 2, page 219; Volume 2, page 276.]
- 53. In order to disregard the approach in the prior three (3) appraisals to determine whether the value was accurate or correct, Williams does not even know what information he would have needed to gain between March 14, 2017, and March 29, 2017, or if it was just an idea brought up from whomever. [Volume 2, pages 219-220, paragraph 120; Volume 2, page 276.]
- 54. Williams has no idea what would have changed numberwise in his calculations regarding external obsolescence. [Volume 2, page 220; Volume 2, page 277.]
- 55. In fact, Williams had difficulty at his deposition even recalling the conversation between him and counsel for Defendants a week prior to his depositions. [Volume 2, page 220, paragraph 121; Volume 2, page 279.]
- 56. Biegert, County Counsel, does not recall when she would have received the March 2, 2017, appraisal. [Volume 2, page 220; Volume 1, page 273.]
- 57. Biegert never learned about draft appraisals until the subpoena response from CBRE. [Volume 2, page 220; Volume 2, page 273.]
- 58. Biegert does not recall when she received the March 2, 2017, appraisal the first time it came across her desk. [Volume 1, page 173.]

- 59. The Shawnee County Appraiser's office ever analyzed the appraisal by CBRE, but rather took their appraisal number and assigned it to each parcel [Volume 2, page 220; Volume 2, page 289.]
- 60. Berry testified that the Shawnee County Appraiser's office did not go in and say "okay, I think this is right about the appraisal, this isn't right about the appraisal." [Volume 2, page 289.]
- 61. Rather, all the County does is say, "[t]his is their appraisal number and that's how we're going to assign the appraisal number to each parcel." [Volume 2, page 289.]
- 62. Berry agreed that information that when making appraisals, it is important to have actual information. [Volume 2, page 291.]
  - And actual information is what should be used. [Volume 2, page 291.]
- 64. If you have actual information, that is what should be used in an appraisal. [Volume 2, page 291.]
- 65. Berry agrees that Shawnee County can have an effect on how the appraisal report comes out, and have an opportunity to revise it. [Volume 2, page 291; Volume 2, page 221.]
- 66. The information in the County's file related to Heartland Park was not transferred to CBRE, even though it could affect the value. [Volume 2, page 221, paragraphs 132-133; Volume 2, pages 293-294.]
- 67. Shawnee County had in its possession from documents and records that can affect the value of Heartland Park, but did not transfer all of that information to CBRE. [Volume 2, pages 293-294.]
- 68. Specifically, Shawnee County withheld environmental reports from CBRE. [Volume 2, page 294.]

- 69. Shawnee County withheld information regarding repairs completed and a list of items that were to be completed from CBRE. [Volume 2, page 295.]
- 70. Berry did not know when CBRE was hired to handle the 2017 appraisal. [Volume 2, page 296.]
- 71. Shawnee County knew of two (2) prior appraisals of Heartland Park conducted by CBRE. [Volume 2, page 296.]
  - 72. No one from Shawnee County provided the 2017 appraisal. [Volume 2, page 298.]
- 73. Shawnee County did not make any decisions based on their own inspection of the property for the appraisal of Heartland Park in 2017. [Volume 2, page 298.]
- 74. Berry only allocated the values to each parcel based upon the appraisal determination. [Volume 2, page 298.]
- 75. The value that was placed on the property for 2017 was the opinion arrived at through CBRE that the County did choose to place on there. [Volume 2, page 299.]
- 76. The County had the option to either accept or reject the value of CBRE. [Volume 2, page 299.]
- 77. There were questions internally from Shawnee County as to why the property value went down so much in 2015 after the reversion. [Volume 2, pages 300-301.]
- 78. Williams requested the hiring of a third-party to determine more critical items and actually provide dollar amounts for those, and the County instructed him not to do so. [Volume 2, page 306.]
- 79. Despite receiving substantial information from Shelby Development, that information was withheld from CBRE. [Volume 2, page 307.]

- 80. Shawnee County requested an "established number" and was told that CBRE "will make it happen." [Volume 2, page 308.]
- 81. Berry could not testify whether or not there was an exchange of valuation numbers on March 1, 2017, despite email traffic indicating the same would be forthcoming. [Volume 2, pages 307-308.]
- 82. Biegert testified that she did not know whether or not they received a revised report or even a report on March 1, 2017. [Volume 2, page 11.]
- 83. She does not recall which revisions were made to any report. [Volume 2, page 311.]
- 84. She recalled that the only revisions made were to the difference between comparables. [Volume 2, page 311.]
- 85. She does not remember what effect the comparables' lot sizes had on the value. [Volume 2, page 311.]
  - 86. She did not remember how much the value increased. [Volume 2, page 312.]
- 87. There was an established value, but a request for extension was made by Shawnee County on the auspices that a value had not been determined. [Volume 2, page 312.]
- 88. The land value remained Four Million and 00/100 Dollars (\$4,000,000.00) throughout the multiple appraisals by CBRE. [Volume 2, page 81; Volume 1, pages 265, 377.]
- 89. The County accepted the March 29, 2017, appraisal by CBRE. [Volume 2, pages 316-317.]
- 90. Williams informed Payne prior to Shawnee County's arrival that Payne should not take such pride in ownership and essentially informed him to be quiet about his property. [Volume 2, page 360.]

- 91. Williams specifically informed Payne that "the county was reaching for a higher value on the property than he thought it was worth." [Volume 2, page 361.]
- 92. Williams also informed Payne that the County had ordered [a] prior appraisal of Fifteen Million and 00/100 Dollars (\$15,000,000.00) and that that was the threshold that the County was trying to get to. [Volume 2, page 361.]
- 93. After resolution with Shawnee County, Payne and Williams had a conversation that he did not value the property at the price of \$10.4M, which caused an in-depth conversation wherein Williams informed Payne that the original appraised amount was around \$5.5M and that the County was pushing Williams, and Bauman specifically gave Williams orders to raise the appraiser higher, and that Bauman said, "I need a higher appraisal." [Volume 2, pages 364-365.]
- 94. Williams stated to Payne that when the second appraisal came back to Bauman again, Bauman said that he had to have a higher appraisal, because the current one was not high enough, and proceeded to tell him reasoning or give him things to make it worth more, wherein Williams repeatedly told Bauman "this is not my appraisal." [Volume 2, page 365.]
- 95. Bauman informed Williams that there was a need for a higher value of the property and informed Williams that Williams "works for [the Appraiser's Office]." [Volume 2, page 365.]
  - 96. Williams was coached by Bauman for a higher value. [Volume 2, page 365.]
- 97. Williams then informed Payne that he would stop sending him values in writing, but rather gave him values over the phone that were shot down or not, and it went back and forth for a period of time. [Volume 2, page 365.]
- 98. Williams stated that he felt uncomfortable where they ended. [Volume 2, page 365.]

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