Case 125299 CLERK OF THE APPELLATE COURTS Filed 2023 Jan 06 PM 2:59

No. 22-125299-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

SHELBY DEVELOPMENT, LLC,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

SHAWNEE COUNTY, KANSAS, SHAWNEE COUNTY, KANSAS APPRAISER'S OFFICE, STEVE BAUMAN, in his official capacity as Shawnee County, Kansas Appraiser and individual capacity, and STACY BERRY, in her official capacity as Shawnee County, Kansas Assistant Appraiser and individual capacity,

Defendants/Appellees.

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF SHAWNEE COUNTY, KANSAS HONORABLE THOMAS G. LUEDKE DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. 2019-CV-000845

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

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

Standard of Review

The District Court granted the defendants/appellees' motion for summary judgment on all claims. A summary judgment determination based on undisputed facts is reviewed de novo. *Kuxhausen v. Tilman Partners, L.P.*, 291 Kan. 314, 318, 241 P.3d 75 (2010).

I. Shelby fails to prove damages because it concedes the stipulated value is agreeable and it is not asking to revisit the valuation.

Damages are a necessary component to all of Shelby Development's claims. The district court found this element wholly lacking and its absence permeated through all of Shelby's claims. Specifically, the district court noted Shelby's position that it was not challenging the stipulated value and its agreement with the fair market value determination contained in the stipulation. Because any possible damage based on the tax consequences of that value would necessarily require a challenge to the value, Shelby did not suffer any damages. The district court also noted the inconsistency between Shelby's

claim that it was not asking to revisit the valuation of Heartland Park with their requested relief which included a new appraisal by an independent third-party appraiser.

A. District Court applied proper summary judgment standard.

Instead of addressing these inconsistencies, Shelby takes issue with the standard of review applied by the district court. Shelby claims the district court improperly shifted the burden on Shelby to prove their case at the summary judgment phase. This misconstrues the district court finding and the summary judgment standard.

Although Shelby is not required to prove its case at summary judgment, it must produce evidence sufficient to establish each element of their claims. "When a plaintiff lacks evidence to establish an essential element of his or her claim, summary judgment is appropriate." *Mortg. Elec. Registration Sys., Inc. v. Graham*, 44 Kan. App. 2d 547, 557, 247 P.3d 223 (2010). One necessary element of each claim asserted by Shelby is damages. Because the district court found no evidence establishing this element, it granted summary judgment.

In finding Shelby failed the prove damages, Shelby claims the district court's ruling is flawed because it relied on certain facts where defendants failed to provide citations. The two facts at issue state:

79. There is no evidence Plaintiff designated an expert witness in the 2016 or 2017 BOTA Appeals.

80. Plaintiff has not designated an expert to testify that <u>any</u> of the values assigned by the Shawnee County Appraiser's Office (whether the original \$10.4 million valuation) or the stipulated values for years 2017 and/or 2018, are incorrect.

15

(R. I, 79–80). The district court incorporated these facts into its memorandum and order granting summary judgment. (R. III, 351). Nothing about the district court's reliance on these facts is improper and Shelby's argument fails for a number of reasons.

First, it is impossible to cite to the absence of evidence. Fact #79 (above) points out that Shelby did not designate an expert witness in their BOTA appeals in 2016 and 2017. The only way to cite to this fact would be to cite the entire BOTA records for each year for the proposition that an expert designation was never made. Such a citation is unhelpful and would needlessly expend judicial resources by requiring someone to comb through those records. The same is true for Fact #80 (above). Shelby designated an expert, but not one that would testify as to the accuracy of the value of Heartland Park. The only way to cite to this fact would be to cite the entire record of the case for the proposition that such a designation was never made. Such a citation is unhelpful as the court is well-apprised of the record and expert designations.

Second, Shelby was given an opportunity to controvert these facts in its summary judgment response and failed to do so. Shelby's only response to Fact #79 was to state "controverted" and point out that the fact contained no citation. Shelby failed to provide any substantive response such as citation to the BOTA record where it designated an expert. Of course, such a citation was impossible as no such designation ever occurred. Shelby also fails to controvert Fact #80. Shelby merely states: (1) that it designated an expert who speculated about whether the March 29, 2017, appraisal was a product of undue influence; and (2) that Payne could testify as to Heartland Park's value. Neither of these controvert the fact as stated. Shelby's expert was not retained to provide an opinion

as to the value of Heartland Park (or opine as to the propriety of the value in the March 29, 2017, appraisal) and Payne was not designated as an expert.

B. Disputed facts about Payne's alleged phone call with Williams are irrelevant to the question of damages.

In its attempt to prove damages, Shelby points to the Payne's recounting of a phone call with Williams. Generally, Payne claims that Williams was pressured by the County to increase the valuation of Heartland Park. Even if true, this fails to establish damages given Shelby's repeated insistence that it agreed with the stipulated value and that it was not asking to revisit the valuation.

In order for Shelby to be damaged, there must be some evidence that the stipulated value was improper thereby damaging Shelby via increased tax burden. Not only is there no evidence of this, but Shelby does not even challenge the stipulated value and requests the stipulation remain intact. Because Shelby fails to challenge the stipulated value, Shelby suffered no damages and alleged conversations between Payne and Williams have no bearing on this conclusion.

II. Shelby claims are barred based on its failure to exhaust administrative remedies.

Shelby's opportunity to challenge the valuation of Heartland Park was during its BOTA appeal. Instead of moving forward with a hearing and decision by BOTA, Shelby elected to settle. Because Shelby's BOTA appeal is the exclusive remedy for challenging the County's assessment and valuation of Heartland Park and because all other claims are a subset of this valuation, Shelby claims are barred because it failed to exhaust administrative remedies.

A. Shelby was on notice of this defense, and it was properly considered by the district court.

Shelby reiterates its argument that the County waived this defense by not pleading it in their answer. This overly simplistic claim was summarily rejected by the district court which found Shelby was on notice of this defense. Shelby offers no new argument as to why Shelby was not on notice of this defense and merely recycles the one case it believes supports its position.

Under the notice pleading standard, defendants are only required to put a plaintiff on notice of its defenses. *See Vondracek v. Mid-State Co-op, Inc.*, 32 Kan. App. 2d 98, 101, 79 P.3d 197 (2003). The substance of the County's failure to exhaust administrative defense is that K.S.A. 79-2005 provides the exclusive remedy for challenging the County's valuation of Heartland Park. This overlaps significantly which other defenses pleaded in the County's answer—namely waiver and res judicata. Additionally, the County in ¶ 29 of its answer stated: "Plaintiff pursued settlement through the pendency of the tax appeal and that a settlement was reach on May 25, 2018" and pled the defenses of waiver, laches, and accord and satisfaction. (R. I, 51, 57).

The County's responses to Shelby's allegations and defenses listed in their answer provided ample notice to Shelby of the County's failure to exhaust administrative remedies defense and it was properly considered by the district court. *See Ackley v. Dep't of Corr. of State of Kan.*, 844 F. Supp. 680, 685 (D. Kan. 1994) (concluding that plaintiff's interpretation of Rule 8(c) was "too stringent" and refusing to bar an affirmative defense when plaintiff had "fair notice" of the defense).¹

B. All of Shelby's claims are premised on the valuation of Heartland Park and Shelby is precluded from collaterally raising these issues at the district court in a tort proceeding.

"The well-recognized rule in this state is that where a full and adequate administrative remedy is provided in tax matters by statute, such remedy must ordinarily be exhausted before a litigant may resort to the courts." *Tri-County Public Airport Auth. v. Morris Cty. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs*, 233 Kan. 960, 966–67, 666 P.2d 698 (1983). K.S.A. 79-2005 provides the exclusive remedy for challenging the County's assessment and valuation of Heartland Park. *See Colo. Interstate Gas Co. v. Beshears*, 18 Kan. App. 2d 814, 820, 860 P.2d 56 (1993). This statute provides the exclusive remedy because "BOTA is considered the paramount, lawfully constituted taxing authority in Kansas." *In re Panhandle E. Pipe Line Co.*, 272 Kan. 1211, 1223, 39 P.3d 21 (2002).

Shelby availed itself of this remedy. The County mailed Shelby property valuation notices for the parcels that make up Heartland Park on March 31, 2017. On June 15, 2017, Shelby filed its notice of appeal with the BOTA. During the BOTA appeal, Shelby issued written discovery, issued subpoenas, submitted KORA, took depositions, and was afforded the opportunity for a hearing before the BOTA. Days before the hearing, Shelby settled its tax appeal with the County and stipulated to values of \$7,500,000 for 2017 and \$8,900,000 for 2018.

¹ "[B]ecause the Kansas Rules of Civil Procedure are patterned after the federal rules, Kansas appellate courts often turn to federal case law for persuasive guidance." *Back-Wenzel v. Williams*, 279 Kan. 346, 349, 109 P.3d 1194 (2005).

Shelby's exclusive remedy for a valuation dispute was through BOTA. As the foregoing shows, Shelby availed itself of this remedy but elected to settle instead of moving forward with a hearing and decision by BOTA. Shelby fails to exhaust its administrative remedies by failing to see their appeal through to the end, by conceding the stipulation remains agreeable, and by attempting to collaterally challenge the valuation in district court through a tort proceeding. It is nothing but speculation to assert any different (lower or higher) valuation would have resulted had Shelby elected to proceed to hearing rather than resolve the BOTA proceedings through stipulation and agreement.

C. The County properly asserted objections under the Kansas Rules of Civil Procedure and the Kansas Open Records Act.

Throughout the BOTA appeal, the County asserted valid and lawful objections to Shelby's discovery requests and KORA requests. These objections pertained to the March 2, 2017, draft appraisal prepared by Williams. For the KORA request, the County objected to production based on K.S.A. 45-221(a)(20) which exempts preliminary drafts from production under KORA. Separately, for the BOTA appeal, the County objected to the production of the draft appraisal because drafts of expert opinions are not discoverable under K.S.A. 60-226(b)(5).

Shelby learned about the existence of a draft appraisal as early as May 5, 2017, when the County withheld the draft from their KORA production. The County reiterated their position to Shelby's counsel that the draft appraisal was exempt from KORA during settlement discussions on April 5, 2018. The following day, Shelby took the deposition of

Stacy Berry who acknowledged the draft existed, explained her understanding of the changes between the two appraisals, and testified that the final appraisal contained a higher value conclusion than the draft. Less than two weeks later, the County objected to producing the draft appraisal as part of the BOTA appeal because it was a draft of an expert opinion.

Shelby cannot claim the County hid the draft appraisal, that it was surprised to learn it existed, or that it contained a higher valuation. The County and Shelby entered into the settlement agreement on May 25, 2018, and entered into the stipulation on June 4, 2018. More than a year before the settlement, Shelby learned the draft existed. Nevertheless, Shelby failed to take steps to acquire or learn about the draft appraisal. During the BOTA appeal, Shelby could have filed a motion to compel production of the draft appraisal; Shelby could have taken the deposition of the County's expert, Chris Williams, to learn about the details of the draft appraisal; and Shelby could have learned about the details of the draft appraisal through cross examination of the County's witnesses (including Williams) during the BOTA hearing.

The propriety of the County's objections cannot be seriously challenged. The BOTA filings make clear they designated Williams as their expert and K.S.A. 60-226(b)(5) specifically protects expert drafts from disclosure. Additionally, Shelby pursed a separate civil action against the County for violation of the KORA for, *inter alia*, withholding the draft appraisal under K.S.A. 45-221(a)(20). (Shawnee County District Court, Case No: 19-cv-543). The Court declined to find the County committed anything more than a technical violation of KORA and found no evidence of bad faith.

21

III. Res judicata bars Shelby from relitigating its property valuation dispute in district court.

All of Shelby's claims are based on an appraisal by Williams and subsequent valuation and tax assessment by the County. All of these claims were or could have been raised at BOTA. Because the BOTA stipulation constitutes a final judgment, res judicata bars Shelby from re-litigating these same issues at district court.

Res judicata or claim preclusion bars a successive claim when four conditions are met: (1) the same claim; (2) the same parties; (3) claims that were or could have been raised; and (4) a final judgment on the merits. *Cain v. Jacox*, 302 Kan. 431, 434, 354 P.3d 1196 (2015).

A. Shelby's claims are the same as those involved at BOTA or claims that could have been raised.

Kansas courts apply a transaction approach to determine if two suits involve the same claim. *See Rhoten v. Dickson*, 290 Kan. 92, 207, 223 P.3d 786 (2010) (applying a transaction approach to determine whether new litigation contains the same claim based on federal law); *O'Keefe v. Merrill Lynch & Co.*, 32 Kan. App. 2d 474, 481, 84 P.3d 613 (2004), *rev. denied* (May 25, 2004) (adopting transaction approach to determine whether state law claims are the same). Under this approach, the same claim "connotes a natural group or common nucleus of operative facts." Restatement (Second) of Judgment § 24, cmt. b (1982).

Shelby claims it could not have raised its present claims at BOTA because BOTA cannot hear tort claims like the ones it raises and because its claims were not known during BOTA.

Shelby's claims stem from its belief that the value conclusion reached by Chris Williams and the County's subsequent valuation and tax assessment were incorrect. If these amounts were correct, plaintiff's claims alleging the County coerced Williams or wrongfully withheld a draft of a lower value would be unintelligible. This makes clear that Shelby's claims are valuation and assessment issues and BOTA was the proper venue. *See Beshears*, 18 Kan. App. 2d at 817.

As noted in Section II(C) (above), Shelby is incorrect in alleging these claims were not known during BOTA. Shelby knew a draft appraisal existed more than one year before entering into the stipulation. Shelby knew the value conclusion increased between the draft and final version of the appraisal. Armed with this information, it declined to employ necessary means to obtain the appraisal or learn more information about. Shelby's failure and subsequent stipulation and settlement does not become an actionable tort in district court to relitigate the same value and assessment issues at BOTA.

B. The parties to Shelby's current claims are the same as its **BOTA** appeal.

Shelby Development was the taxpayer challenging the valuation and assessment at BOTA and the County defended the valuation. Thus, this suit involves the same parties. Shelby cannot avoid res judicata simply by naming Steve Bauman and Stacy Berry in their individual capacity. Steve Bauman is the County Appraiser and Stacy Berry is an Assistant County Appraiser—both of whom are in privity with the County.

Shelby's only attempt at disproving this element of res judicata is to claim Bauman and Berry acted outside the scope of their employment. Shelby's claim that Bauman and Berry "merely assess[ed] values" is not supported by the facts of this case. Although the County engaged an outside appraiser to value the property, it is ultimately the County Appraiser's responsibility and statutory duty to assign a value. K.S.A. 79-1455. The Appraiser's Office, through Bauman and Berry, performed this duty by issuing valuation notices for the parcels comprising Heartland Park on March 31, 2017.

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